IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

JOHN P. MLADINEO AND SHERRY MLADINEO

APPELLANTS

NO. 2008-CA-02011

RICHARD EARL SCHMIDT, Individually, as an agent of Nationwide within the scope of his agency, and as an agent and/or employee of the Michael Felsher Insurance Agency within the course and scope of his agency and/or employment; MICHAEL FELSHER INSURANCE AGENCY, as an agent of Nationwide and as employer and/or principal of Agent Richard Earl Schmidt; and NATIONWIDE PROPERTY &CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLEES

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF JACKSON COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

The Mladineos seek reversal of the Order Granting Motion for Summary Judgment of the Trial Court entered on November 7, 2008, for the reasons stated in their Brief and do hereby state the following as to be issues on appeal:

- 1. Whether the Mladineos are entitled to present evidence of Schmidt's negligent failure to procure, Schmidt's negligent misrepresentations and other claims and to have those issues and the issues of comparative fault and causation determined by a jury.
- 2. Whether the Mladineos' claims for the numerous negligent acts of the agent, including his failure to procure the coverage specifically requested and his negligent and erroneous misrepresentation of the terms of the policy are automatically barred by the "duty to read" defense.
- 3. Whether Nationwide had a duty to conduct a fair, prompt and adequate investigation of the claims of agent error after Nationwide, in spite of a readily apparent conflict between the interests of its policyholders and its agents, voluntarily undertook to investigate the claims of agent error and whether Nationwide's failure to meet those standards is actionable in tort.
- 4. Whether the Nationwide Parties waived the "duty to read" defense by (a) not including it in their denial letters to the Mladineos prior to litigation; (b) failing to plead it as an affirmative defense in any responsive pleading filed in this case prior to filing the motion for summary judgment; and (c) actively participating in this litigation for over two years before raising it for the first time in the motion for summary judgment.
- 5. Whether the "duty to read" defense automatically bars a claim against an insurance company for the misrepresentations of its agent acting with apparent authority.
- 6. Whether considerations of public policy prohibit the application and interpretation of the "duty to read" defense as interpreted by the Trial Court and whether an insured must, automatically, upon receipt of the policy, bear any and all losses arising out of and related to an agent's negligence, failure to procure and misrepresentation of the terms of an insurance policy.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Parties and Nature of the Case

The Appellants here are John and Sherry Mladineo. They are referred to collectively as "the Mladineos," and individually as "John" and "Sherry."

Appellees are Nationwide Property & Casualty Insurance Company ("Nationwide"), Michael Felsher, d/b/a The Felsher Agency ("Felsher"), and Richard Earl Schmidt ("Schmidt"). Schmidt is an employee of Felsher. Both Schmidt and Felsher are agents for Nationwide. The three are sometimes collectively referred to as "the Nationwide Parties."

This is an appeal from a summary judgment of the Jackson County, Mississippi Circuit Court dismissing all the Mladineos' claims against the Nationwide Parties for damages arising out of multiple acts of negligence and other wrongful acts committed by the Nationwide Parties. The Nationwide Parties committed negligence and wrongful acts prior to Hurricane Katrina, during the process of procuring specifically requested insurance coverage, and, subsequently, after Hurricane Katrina, in concealing and obscuring Schmidt's negligence by conducting a legally inadequate "investigation" of Schmidt's errors and omissions, and then continuing to deny payment of those claims.

The Mladineos seek reversal of the summary judgment and a remand of the case for trial on multiple questions of material fact which should rightly be determined by a jury.

II. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below

The Mladineos initiated suit in this case on September 9, 2006, in the Circuit Court of Jackson County, Mississippi. R. vol. 1, 18-66. The Mladineos propounded their initial discovery requests to the Nationwide Parties at the same time. R. vol. 1, 67-72. On November 17, 2006, in

lieu of an Answer, the Nationwide Parties removed this case to the United States District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi. R. V. 1 at 73-136. On December 1, 2006, the Nationwide Parties filed their Answer to the Mladineos' Compliant. R. V. 18 at 2606-17. It should be noted that the Answer of the Nationwide Parties did not include the "duty to read" as an affirmative defense. This case was remanded to the Circuit Court of Jackson County, Mississippi on May 16, 2007. R. V. 1 at 140-44.

The parties then engaged in a period of active and extensive discovery. The Trial Court conducted a scheduling conference by telephone, and on November 14, 2007, entered an Agreed Scheduling Order setting discovery deadlines and trial preparation deadlines. The Agreed Scheduling Order set the trial of the cause to begin on June 16, 2008. R. V. 2 at 196-97.

In February, 2008, the Mladineos filed an Amended Complaint to include one or more additional causes of action based on facts learned during discovery. R. V. 2 at 260-76. Because they planned to file a Second Amended Complaint to correct scrivner's errors, the Mladineos waived the necessity of an Answer to the first amended Complaint. Shortly thereafter, on February 18, 2008, the Mladineos filed and served their Second Amended Complaint. R. V. 2 at 281-V. 3 at 301. On February 20, 2008, the Nationwide Parties served their Answer to the Second Amended Complaint. R. V. 3 at 302-18. Once again, the Nationwide Parties did not plead the "duty to read" as one of their many affirmative defenses. R. V. 3 at 302-18.

Discovery continued, but given the scheduling conflicts of counsel and witnesses, it became apparent that discovery could not be completed by the deadlines established by the Agreed Scheduling Order. The Trial Court, on May 8, 2008, six weeks prior to the scheduled trial date, entered an order setting a new trial date, and also set new deadlines for discovery and trial

preparation. R. V. 3 at 396-97. The trial was scheduled to begin on December 8, 2008. R. V. 3 at 396-97. The parties continued to engage in discovery, including several site inspections, designations of experts, and scheduling and taking depositions of expert and lay witnesses, all in anticipation of the upcoming trial scheduled for December 8, 2008.

On September 17, 2008, more than two years after the initial Complaint was filed, and less than three months prior to trial, the Nationwide Parties filed their Motion for Summary Judgment. R. V. 6 at 827-V. 7 at 957. This was the first time the Nationwide Parties asserted the "duty to read" defense. R. V. 6 at 827-V. 7 at 957. The Nationwide Parties' Motion for Summary Judgment sought dismissal of all claims on the grounds that Nationwide had issued a policy of insurance to the Mladineos (although it did not conform to what they had asked the agent to procure) and that the Mladineos had received a copy of the insurance policy in the mail. R. V. 6 at 827-V. 7 at 957. On September 22, 2008, the Nationwide Parties filed a Verified Petition to Transfer Venue seeking to have the case heard in a venue other than the Circuit Court of Jackson County, Mississippi. R. V. 7 at 1012-V. 13 at 1820. The Mladineos filed their own Motion for Partial Summary Judgment seeking an order from the Trial Court that the "duty to read" affirmative defense, having not been plead or otherwise timely brought to the attention of the Trial Court by the Nationwide Parties, had been waived. R. V. 15 at 2238-V. 17 at 2455.

The Trial Court heard argument on all three motions on October 10, 2008. The Motion For Change of Venue was denied. Hrg. Transcr. 74:4-11 (Oct. 10, 2008); R. V. 17 at 2467. The Trial Court took the two summary judgment motions under advisement. Hrg. Transcr. 74:2-4 (Oct. 10, 2008).

III. The Judgment

On November 7, 2008, the Trial Court entered its Order Granting [the Nationwide Parties'] Motion for Summary Judgment (the "Judgment"). R. V. 17 at 2468-72. The Judgment was prepared by attorneys for the Nationwide Parties, and the Trial Court adopted the Judgment in its entirety. The Trial Court also denied the Mladineos' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment as to the waiver issue. R. V. 17 at 2468-72.

The Trial Court dismissed all claims of the Mladineos, whether those claims sounded in tort or in contract, holding that the "duty to read" defense required dismissal without any consideration or evaluation of the facts other than whether the policy was issued and ultimately received. R. V. 17 at 2468-72.

The various aspects, provisions and errors of the Judgment will be developed in the Statement of Facts and Argument portions of this brief. It is this Judgment which the Mladineos now appeal and of which they seek reversal. R. V. 17 at 2468-72.

IV. Statement of the Facts

(A) Discussions Between John and Schmidt Regarding Insurance Coverage Specifically Requested and the Insurance Policy Recommended by Schmidt

Beginning about three weeks prior to March 10, 2005, John, who had never lived on the Gulf Coast, acting for himself and on behalf of his wife, Sherry, engaged in multiple telephonic discussions with Schmidt regarding the need for insurance coverage on the house the Mladineos planned to purchase in Ocean Springs, Mississippi located on the backwaters of Biloxi Bay (the "Ocean Springs home"). Depo. John Mladineo 37:1-17 (Mar. 4, 2008). During John's initial

conversation with Schmidt, Schmidt indicated that he was familiar with the property. Depo. John Mladineo 44:23-45:23 (Mar. 4, 2008); Depo. Richard Schmidt 45:12-46:2 (Jan. 11, 2008).

After further discussions regarding details of insurance coverage, including coverage for other structures, policy limits, deductible amounts, and after Schmidt's inspection of the premises, John, relying on the information from, the advice offered by, and the recommendations made by Schmidt, purchased the insurance policy recommended by Schmidt. Depo. John Mladineo 44:23-45:23 (Mar. 4, 2008). As regards these discussions, it should be noted that Schmidt commented that "John asked a lot of questions" and that he, Schmidt, felt John was relying on his answers to make a decision in purchasing insurance coverage. Depo. Richard Schmidt 69:20-71:3 (Jan. 11, 2008). Schmidt's impression was that John was more inquisitive than most of his customers about the procurement of insurance protection, particularly from damage relating to a hurricane. Depo. Richard Schmidt 70:12-16 (Jan. 11, 2008).

There is, however, conflicting testimony as to the specific details of the discussions between John and Schmidt, which presents genuine issues of material facts to be determined by a jury. John, in his deposition testimony, stated that he told Schmidt he wanted a homeowners policy but was particularly interested in getting insurance coverage for all damage from wind and water from all storms. Depo. John Mladineo 51:5-16 (Mar. 4, 2008). John characterized his request for insurance coverage as "an inclusive request for a homeowners policy as well as specific coverage for wind and water damage from any storm." Depo. John Mladineo 49:17-19 (Mar. 4, 2008). Asked again about his initial statements to Schmidt regarding insurance coverage, John further testified, "I told him we were buying a house. We needed an insurance policy for the house, but we [also] wanted to make sure that we had coverage from all wind and water damages from all storms." Depo. John Mladineo

50:11-15 (Mar. 4, 2008). According to John, Schmidt's response was, "you need a hurricane policy." Depo. John Mladineo 51:10-11 (Mar. 4, 2008). Schmidt further indicated that a regular homeowners policy would not cover damage from a named storm. Depo. John Mladineo 51:11-13 (Mar. 4, 2008). John then asked whether the hurricane policy would pay for all wind and water damages, to which Schmidt replied, "yes it would." Depo. John Mladineo 51:13-14 (Mar. 4, 2008). Schmidt then added that "since you don't live in a flood plain the bank won't require a separate flood insurance policy." Depo. John Mladineo 51:15-17 (Mar. 4, 2008). John further testified that since Schmidt had indicated that with the hurricane policy he was covered for all wind and water damage from all storms, then, with this assurance, John made no further inquiries regarding coverage for either wind or water damages. Depo. John Mladineo 51:5-52:7 (Mar. 4, 2008). John kept notes of his conversations with Schmidt.

Schmidt's deposition testimony about his conversations with John was less certain than John's. Schmidt had little, if any, definitive recollection about those conversations: "I remember speaking to him, but I can't tell you the content [of those conversations]." Depo. Richard Schmidt 66:18-25 (Jan. 11, 2008). In addition, Schmidt testified that he did not remember "a whole lot right now" and that "a lot of this is going to be speculation because this is what we do every single day." Depo. Richard Schmidt 35:4-6, 35:22-23, 36:20-25 (Jan. 11, 2008). Schmidt testified that "we discussed flood exclusions" and gave as his reason, "we discussed flood insurance in depth, or we discussed hurricanes in depth." Depo. Richard Schmidt 57:15-17 (Jan. 11, 2008). Schmidt's "reason" is totally incomprehensible and meaningless, particularly in light of Schmidt's admission that prior to Hurricane Katrina, they did not routinely offer flood policies and that he did not offer a flood policy to John. R. V. 14 at 2100.

In addition to misrepresenting the terms of the policy that Schmidt recommended to the Mladineos, as earlier discussed, Schmidt failed to follow agency practices which he had been taught and was expected to follow. Depo. Michael Felsher 24:14-17 (to create a customer file), 25:8-13 (to obtain a signed application), 30:1-10 (to explain the coverages and exclusions of a policy being sold), 34:10-15 (to provide a sample policy), 38:11-17 (to make an independent determination if a customer's property was in a flood plain), 39:7-16 (to encourage all customers to purchase flood insurance), 46:4-12 (to perform a complete inspection of the property to be insured), 51:14-52:12 (to encourage the customer to purchase a flood policy if the agent knew the property to be insured was in a flood plain), 54:1-13 (to specifically explain the exclusions regarding storm surge and to offer flood policies to all customers), 80:9-84:1 (to inform a customer that part of his property was in a flood plain, to explain that flood was excluded by a homeowners policy and to offer a flood policy) (Jan. 11, 2008). Schmidt's failure to follow these practices constitutes negligence and contributed to his ultimate failure to procure the specifically requested insurance coverage. R. V. 15 at 2111-35. Schmidt failed to fully understand and explain the terms of the policy coverage and the exclusions. Schmidt did not perform a complete inspection of the property and failed to inform the Mladineos that a portion of their property was in a flood zone. R. V. 15 at 2101; Depo. Richard Schmidt 75:23-76:5 (Jan. 11, 2008). Schmidt failed to recommend or offer a flood policy to the Mladineos. R. V. 14 2100; Depo. Richard Schmidt 84:8-85:4 (Jan. 11, 2008). Schmidt failed to obtain a signed application and failed to maintain a complete file, including accurate notes, regarding his business dealings with the Mladineos. Depo. Richard Schmidt 33:15-35:6 (Jan. 11, 2008); Depo. Donna Elliott 91:16-92:20 (Mar. 25, 2008). Schmidt also failed to educate himself as to the issues

regarding the promotion and selling of flood insurance. Depo. Richard Schmidt 83:10-19, 88:14-25 (Jan. 11, 2008).

Acting upon the request of Schmidt, Nationwide issued a Homeowners Policy with a "Hurricane Coverage and Deductible Provision Endorsement" effective March 10, 2005, the date the Mladineos closed their purchase of the Ocean Springs home. Depo. John Mladineo 39:18-40:18 (Mar. 4, 2008). John paid the premium for the policy before the policy was issued or received. Depo. John Mladineo 39:18-40:18 (Mar. 4, 2008).

(B) Hurricane Katrina

On August 29, 2005, within the subject policy period, the insured dwelling, other structures (the pier and boathouse) and certain personal property were severely damaged by the winds and water associated with Hurricane Katrina. R. V. 14 at 1972. John promptly filed a claim, and an adjustor for Nationwide inspected the Ocean Springs home on October 13, 2005. Depo. John Mladineo 61:9-14 (Mar. 4, 2008). After that, Nationwide denied coverage for damages caused to the pier and boathouse because the policy excluded coverage for these structures — contrary to the representations made by Schmidt. R. V. 14 at 2026. The damage caused to the dwelling by the storm surge was "under review." R. V. 14 at 2026. The claim for damages to the dwelling caused by the waters of the storm surge was ultimately denied, even though John had requested insurance coverage for damages resulting from all wind and water from all storms, and even though Schmidt assured John that the recommended hurricane policy provided such coverage. R. V. 14 at 2027.

Preceding that ultimate denial, however, were the events described in the next two subsections.

(C) John's Discussions with Schmidt and the Submission of the Errors and Omissions Claim

After being advised that the claim for damages to the dwelling caused by the storm surge was under review and that the claim for damages to the pier and boat house had been denied, John met with Schmidt in Schmidt's office on October 26, 2005, to discuss the unexpected lack of coverage. Depo. John Mladineo 68:11-71:14 (Mar. 4, 2008). This was the first time John and Schmidt had met "face to face." Depo. John Mladineo 68:11-71:14 (Mar. 4, 2008). Schmidt appeared startled and confused and indicated that he had no clear recollection of his conversations with John leading up to the purchase of the recommended insurance policy. Depo. John Mladineo 68:11-71:14 (Mar. 4, 2008). Schmidt did exclaim at that time, "[w]e didn't get flood insurance?" Depo. John Mladineo 68:11-71:14 (Mar. 4, 2008). Schmidt then indicated that he should and would file an errors and omissions claim, and completed the errors and omissions claim form (the "E & O Claim Form") in John's presence. Depo. John Mladineo 68:11-71:14 (Mar. 4, 2008). At John's request, Schmidt allowed John to read the E & O Claim Form as completed, but declined John's request for a copy thereof on the grounds that Nationwide's company policy prohibited giving a copy of the E & O Claim Form to the policyholder. Depo. John Mladineo 68:11-71:14 (Mar. 4, 2008). (The E & O Claim Form's proper title was Agents Professional Liability Incident Report. R. V. 14 at 2029.)

The completed E & O Claim Form was forwarded by Schmidt to Nationwide. Depo. Richard Schmidt 99:14-100:13 (Jan. 11, 2008). On the E & O Claim Form, Schmidt indicated that the Mladineos' claim made against him related to an insurance policy written by Nationwide, thereby designating the errors and omissions claim as one to be handled by Nationwide's in-house Agent Support Claims Program, also referred to as the Agent Support Group ("ASG"). R. V. 14 at 2029.

The E & O Claim Form on its face indicated that if the Mladineos' errors and omissions claim against Schmidt had related to a policy written by an insuror other than Nationwide, then the professional liability claim would be assigned to and handled by Fireman's Fund Insurance Company ("Fireman's Fund"), an independent errors and omissions carrier. R. V. 14 at 2029. Nationwide did, in fact, refer the other portion of the Mladineos' errors and omissions claim relating to the "other structures" – that is, the pier and boathouse – to Fireman's Fund, and that claim was resolved to the Mladineos' satisfaction by Firemen's Fund. R. V. 14 at 2030-32.

(D) "Investigation" of the Errors and Omissions Claim by Nationwide's Agents Support Group

The E & O Claim Form as ultimately sent by Schmidt to Nationwide contained the following language, which represents Schmidt's version of the facts:

Policyholder was told that house was covered for hurricanes But there was no coverage for storm surge Also, policyholder was not told about exclusions for piers and boathouses.

R. V. 4 at 2029 (Capitalization and punctuation those of Schmidt).

John's recollection of the E & O Claim Form as he read it immediately after Schmidt's completion thereof, differs from the E & O Claim Form as submitted to Nationwide: line two had formerly been "but not told no coverage for storm surge." Depo. John Mladineo 216:7-217:9 (Mar. 4, 2008). John's recollection of the original language of the E & O Claim Form is consistent with the overall tenor of John's discussions with Schmidt during the October 26, 2005 meeting regarding the unexpected lack of coverage. Depo. John Mladineo 216:7-217:9 (Mar. 4, 2008).

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