#### CASE NO. 2008-CA-02011

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### JOHN P. MLADINEO AND SHERRY MLADINEO,

#### APPELLANTS

V.

RICHARD EARL SCHMIDT, Individually, as an agent of Nationwide within the scope of his agency, and as an agent and/or employee of the Michael Felsher Insurance Agency within the course and scope of his agency and/or employment; MICHAEL FELSHER INSURANCE AGENCY, as an agent of Nationwide and/or principal of Agent Richard Earl Schmidt; and NATIONWIDE PROPERTY & CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY,

#### **APPELLEES**

# BRIEF OF APPELLEES RICHARD EARL SCHMIDT, MICHAEL FELSHER INSURANCE AGENCY, AND NATIONWIDE PROPERTY & CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY

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

against their agent because "examination would have made it readily apparent that the coverage contracted for was not issued." <sup>10</sup> (Internal quotations & citations omitted); see also Greene v. Lilburn Ins. Agency, Inc., 383 S.E.2d 194, 195 (Ga. Ct. App. 1989) (citing Reed to hold that insured's failure to read policy precluded recovery against agent for failure to obtain theft coverage because examination of policy would have revealed that coverage contracted for was not issued). The supporting rationale for this rule was stated most clearly in S&A Corp. v. Berger Co., 140 S.E.2d 509, 511 (Ga. Ct. App. 1965) (emphasis added) as follows:

[I]t was the plaintiff's own negligence in failing to check the amount of the policy coverage that was the proximate cause of plaintiff's loss.... Having the policy in its possession prior to the fire plaintiff was charged with the knowledge of the terms and conditions of the policy, namely and in particular that the policy coverage was for only \$3,000 and not \$7,500 as contracted for between the parties.... Consequently the plaintiff being, under the law, charged with knowing the terms and conditions of the policy any negligence, if any, on the part of the defendant in failing to procure the amount of insurance coverage contracted for could have been avoided by the plaintiff and therefore a finding for the defendant is demanded.

Alabama courts also have held that an insured's breach of the duty to read his policy (and verify coverage is provided) is the true proximate cause of any loss resulting from insufficient coverage. In Torres v. State Farm Fire & Casualty Insurance Company, 438 So. 2d 757, 759 (Ala. 1983), overr'd on other grounds by Hickox v. Stover, 551 So. 2d 259 (Ala. 1989), reinstated by Foremost Ins. Co. v. Parham, 693 So. 2d 409 (Ala. 1997), the plaintiffs alleged that they requested flood insurance in the wake of Hurricane Frederick, but such coverage was never procured by their agent. Like the Mladineos, the plaintiffs in Torres admitted that they received a copy of their homeowners policy, but claimed not to know that the policy did not provide flood coverage. Id. at 759. Under those facts, the Alabama Supreme

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Specifically, the Court recognized that insurance agents who undertake to procure a policy of insurance, but negligently fail to do so, generally will be liable for any resulting loss. *Reed*, 311 S.E.2d at 860.

Court considered the plaintiffs' failure to read their policy and discover its contents, and ultimately found that "the failure to procure flood insurance which would have covered the loss was attributable to the plaintiffs' carelessness and neglect rather than to [any] misrepresentation." *Id.*; *see also Merritt v. Beville*, No. 1:98CV548-BH-C, 1999 LEXIS 11644, at \*13-14 (S.D. Ala. July 12, 1999) ("If [plaintiffs] suffered any damage, that damage was proximately caused by their willful failure to pay attention to the information they were given, and not by the defendants' alleged failure to disclose.").

The Mladineos also cite several cases which they contend stand for the proposition that issuance and receipt of a policy does not bar a failure to procure claim. A mere cursory examination of each case reveals that they do not actually stand for such a proposition, nor do they undermine the authority cited by Appellees and relied upon by the trial court. Despite the Mladineos' description of *Taylor Machine Works, Inc. v. Great American Surplus Lines Insurance Co.* 635 So. 2d 1357, 1362 (Miss. 1994) as "particularly instructive," the court in that case said nothing about the plaintiffs' failure to procure claims other than generally reciting the governing standard under Mississippi law. Indeed, the Court only remanded the failure to procure claim because it had already determined that the lower court erred in deciding the separate issue of whether a "claim" had been properly submitted under the policy, and the parties' briefs, "addressed only the 'claim or no claim' issue." *Taylor Machine Works*, 635 So. 2d at 1362. As a result, the plaintiff's duty to read and imputed knowledge of its policy's terms were never submitted to the court for determination.

Furthermore, the court in *Smith v. Nationwide Ins. Co.*, No. 1:08CV683-LTS-RHW, 2009 WL 736199 (S.D. Miss. Mar. 18, 2009) also simply recited the general standard for a cause of action for failure to procure. Notably, however, the Court then proceeded to find that the

plaintiff failed to state such a claim against the agent in that case. There, the court found that a valid claim had not been stated because there were no allegations in the Complaint that did not concern the terms of the policy. The court explained, "While the Smiths may have made incorrect inferences concerning their insurance coverage, [their agent] is not responsible for those inferences if they are contradicted by the terms of the policy itself." Smith, 2009 WL 736199 at \*5, citing Stephens v. Equitable Life Assur. Soc'y of the United States, 850 So. 2d 78, 82 (Miss. 2003) and Cherry v. Anthony, 501 So. 2d 416 (Miss.1987). Thus, Smith actually reaffirms the basis upon which summary judgment was correctly granted in this case regarding both misrepresentation and failure to procure: "Because the water damage exclusion is clear and unambiguous, and because the plaintiffs are charged with knowledge of the terms of their policy" the plaintiffs' claims cannot succeed. Smith, 2009 WL 736199 at \*1.

In this case, John Mladineo admitted during his deposition that he received a copy of his policy from Nationwide approximately six (6) weeks after the March 10, 2005 closing, but he never read it. (R. 871, R.E. 36 at p. 55). That policy provided fair, unambiguous notice of the terms of coverage procured by Richard Schmidt. The Mladineos then had nearly four months — one third of the entire policy period and more than ample time — to review those terms and reject them if they considered the coverage inadequate. Indeed, John Mladineo admitted during his deposition that, had he read his policy, he would have known before the hurricane that flood damage was unambiguously excluded. (R. 880, R.E. 45 at pp. 90-92). However, in those four months, John Mladineo did not read his policy, and at no point between the time the insurance

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Compare Syx v. Midfield Volkswagen, Inc., 518 So. 2d 94, 97 (Ala. 1987) (finding that five months is enough time for an insured to familiarize himself with provisions of insurance policy).

was procured and the date of Hurricane Katrina did he complain about the coverage that was provided.

As in *Atlas*, *Haggans*, *Reed*, and *Torres*, the damages the Mladineos claim to have suffered as a result of Richard Schmidt's alleged failure to procure flood coverage could have been avoided had the Mladineos simply read their policy. Indeed, John Mladineo admits as much. As a matter of both sound policy and Mississippi law, the Mladineos must not be permitted to ignore the terms and conditions of the insurance policy they possessed for four months and then complain about those terms and conditions only after sustaining a loss that could have been avoided.

Nor can the Mladineos avoid summary judgment based on their other general allegations of "negligent conduct" by Schmidt. None of the "facts" to which Plaintiffs point have any material relationship to the claims – and alleged damages – at issue in this lawsuit. The crux of this case is Plaintiffs' claim that Schmidt told them they would be getting a "hurricane policy" that provided coverage for all wind and water damage associated with hurricanes. Thus, because Plaintiffs' homeowners policy excluded flood damage, Plaintiffs seek to recover for such uncovered property damage resulting from Hurricane Katrina.

Whether Schmidt kept a file, obtained a signed policy application, inspected the property, or took specific notes regarding his dealings with Mladineo are irrelevant to this equation. There is no evidence whatsoever in the record that signing an application would have indicated anything to Mladineo about the coverage that would ultimately be provided in his policy. Furthermore, once the policy was delivered, it controlled the coverage provided, a fact which Mladineo admitted he understood during his deposition. Additionally, whether Schmidt did or did not inspect the rear of the property is inconsequential, because it is undisputed that Schmidt

was familiar with the property location, including the fact that it was on the water. That a portion of the property touching the water may have been in a flood plain is likewise irrelevant because the structure actually being insured – the residence – was not, and Mladineo is not seeking to recover for flood damage to anything other than the structure itself. Finally, the type or specificity of any "notes" or "files" Schmidt may have taken and maintained regarding his dealings with Mladineo is absolutely immaterial to this case, and has no connection to Mladineo's claim that he was uninsured for flood damage

Ultimately, Plaintiffs' other allegations of negligence are mere makeweight, which the lower court did, and this Court should, readily dismiss. The Plaintiffs' policy — which they received — controls all coverage issues in this case. The Mladineos' attempt to distract from this fact is unavailing.

## D. APPELLEES DID NOT "WAIVE" THEIR RIGHT TO MOVE FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT BASED UPON ESTABLISHED PRINCIPLES OF MISSISSIPPI LAW.

In what appears to be a "throw it against the wall and see if it sticks" argument, the Mladineos claim that Appellees should have affirmatively pled that they failed to read their policy, and that by waiting until after discovery was complete (but before the motion deadline) to file their Motion for Summary Judgment, Appellees waived their right to rely on the policy language. Thus, the Mladineos essentially suggest that, by actively participating in the lawsuit the Mladineos instituted, Nationwide, Schmidt, and the Felsher Agency waived their right to rely upon established principles of Mississippi law and file a summary judgment motion.

Generally speaking, a defendant only waives an affirmative defense "if the defense is not asserted prior to or simultaneously within the answer." *Rains v. Gardner*, 731 So. 2d 1192, 1197 (Miss. 1999); *see also Collom v. Senholtz*, 767 So. 2d 215, 218 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000). The

Mladineos' waiver argument, however, rests on the additional principle that "where ... there is a substantial and unreasonable delay in pursuing the right, coupled with active participation in the litigation process," a defendant may be found to have waived his right to pursue an affirmative defense. MS Credit Center, Inc. v. Horton, 926 So. 2d 167, 180 (Miss. 2006) (emphasis added). Here, the Horton line of cases is inapplicable for two reasons: first, the Mladineos' so-called "duty to read" their policy is not an affirmative defense that can be waived; and second, Appellees have not delayed in pursuing their rights under Mississippi law.

The "duty to read" is not an affirmative defense. It is not listed as an affirmative defense in Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 8, nor is it a matter of avoidance. Instead, the "duty to read," and the resulting imputation of knowledge, is a settled principle of Mississippi law. As noted above, each person is deemed to know the contents of his contracts, whether he reads them or not. *Oaks*, 953 So. 2d at 1082. Here, the insurance policy which the Mladineos had in their possession for over four months before Hurricane Katrina specifically excludes damages for flooding. By operation of law, therefore, that policy refutes the Mladineos' claim that they had flood coverage.

The Mladineos' entire lawsuit relies on the allegation that their agent, Richard Schmidt, misrepresented the terms of the subject insurance policy to them – specifically, their allegation that he somehow represented that they would have total coverage. One of the essential elements of that claim, which the Mladineos must prove, is their reasonable reliance upon the alleged misrepresentation. As discussed in detail above, the Mladineos cannot prove this element of their claim because one cannot reasonably rely on a "misrepresentation" that would have been revealed by reading the contract. See id. Settled precedent therefore creates a defect in the Mladineos' proof and establishes an element on which they cannot, as a matter of law, create a

jury question. That defect is not the result of any affirmative defense which Defendants did or did not raise; it is the result of the Mladineos' inability to create a *prima facie* case of misrepresentation.

Nonetheless, even if one could argue that imputed knowledge of policy language were an affirmative defense, Defendants did in fact raise that "defense" in their Answers to both the original Complaint and the Second Amended Complaint. Among its Affirmative Defenses, Nationwide pled that the Mladineos' claims were barred by the language of the policy, including specifically the "water or water-borne material exclusion." (R. 302-303). Further, throughout their Answers, Defendants affirmatively stated "that the subject policy speaks for itself, and that a copy of the policy was at all times available for Mladineo to review upon request. Defendants [further] affirmatively state[d] that a copy of the policy was delivered to and received by the Mladineos after purchase." *See* R. at 303. Thus, the Mladineos were certainly on notice that the Defendants intended to rely on the policy language and its exclusions, and cannot reasonably argue that they were not.

Nor can the Mladineos reasonably contend that Defendants substantially and unreasonably delayed in pursuing the so-called "duty to read" or "implied knowledge" defenses in this case. For months, *both parties* conducted discovery, much of which specifically addressed the Mladineos' duty – and failure – to read their insurance policy, as well as notice of the actual policy provisions. *See, e.g.,* R. 871, R.E. 36 at p. 55 ("Q: And did you read your policy when you received it? A: No. Q: Okay. Did you read your policy at any time prior to August 29th of 2005? A: No."); R. 880, R.E. 45 at 92 ("Q: Now, Dr. Mladineo, again, if you had read this provision of Nationwide's homeowners policy . . . you would have known that – that flood damage from Hurricane Katrina was not covered; is that correct? A: Correct ....").

Furthermore, as Plaintiffs admit, "an Amended Agreed Scheduling Order was entered on May 8, 2008 with new deadlines for discovery and trial preparation." (R. 969-970, R.E. 128-129). Included in that Order was a mutually agreed-upon October 24, 2008 deadline for filing dispositive motions, including motions for summary judgment. (R. 969, R.E. 128). Thus, Defendants neither substantially nor unreasonably delayed in pursuing the defenses available to them under Mississippi law. To the contrary, Defendants operated within the parameters of the case management deadlines set forth in the Amended Agreed Scheduling Order by conducting discovery aimed at developing the claims and defenses of this lawsuit and by filing their Motion for Summary Judgment more than four weeks ahead of the October 24, 2008 motions deadline.

Plaintiffs' waiver argument suggests that Defendants should have immediately filed a motion for summary judgment without ever conducting or completing discovery in this case. This position is neither practical nor supported by Mississippi law. Defendants chose to initially preserve their policy-based defenses by raising them in the Answer to Plaintiffs' Second Amended Complaint, and by reserving their right to raise additional defenses as additional facts became known over the course of discovery. Thereafter, *both parties* participated actively in discovery regarding the specific issue of Plaintiffs' duty – and failure – to read the subject insurance policy. Once substantial discovery on the necessary issues had been completed, Defendants prepared and filed their Motion for Summary Judgment on September 17, 2008 – *more than one month in advance of the agreed-upon October 24, 2008 deadline for filing dispositive motions*. Plaintiffs cannot reasonably contend that a motion filed more than four weeks early is untimely. For these reasons, the waiver principles set forth in the *Horton* line of cases are simply inapplicable to this case. Defendants did not waive their right to move for

summary judgment on Plaintiffs' claims, and the trial court correctly rejected such an argument as a matter of Mississippi law.

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